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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEVADA

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION

Plaintiff, Case No0.2:12-cv-00536 GMN-VCF
VS.
ORDER

AMG SERVICES, INC.gt al,

Defendand.

N N N N N N N N N

Pending before the Coudr considerations the Reporand Recommendation (ECF N

0.

539) of the Honorable Cam Ferenbach, United States Magistrate Judge, entered on January 2

2014. On February 14, 2014, the Muir Law Firm, LLC and Timothy J. Muir (collectively th
S0XLU '"HIHQGDQWV"™ 1LOHG6n WE&HND . b44) &#nd WNHEES e2\EC s HINE . W\SE
,QF 5HG &HGDU 6HUYLFHV ,QF DQG 0 L1én6irUN ILHFGI® D
filed their Objection. (ECF No. 542.) Thending' HIHQGDQWVY 2EMHFWLR
Defendants AMG Capital Managent, Level 5 Motorsports, LeadFlash Consulting, Black
Creek Capital Corporation, Broadmoor Capital Partners, Scott A. Tucker, Blaine A. Tuck
Don E. Brady, Troy LittleAxe, and Robert D. Campbell. (ECF Nos. 545, 548, 549, 552.)
Federal Trade Commi¢sRQ WKH 3)7&" ILOHG LWV 5HVSRQVH W
(ECF No. 554) and Response totlending' HIHQGDQWVY 2EMHFWLRQ (
2,2014.
For the reasons discussed beltdve Court will accept and adolgtagistrate Judge

Ferenbacl$ Report andRecommendatio(ECF N0.539) to the extent that it is not inconsistg

with this opinion
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On the contrarythe webpage format discouragle reading othe terms and conditions
because ibreaks the termand conditionsip intonine separate hyperlinks in eight or nine
point font See(ld. 8:4-9:22.) Furthermorghe most important linkhat takes the borrowers t(

the document at issue for the presentioms? theLoan Note and Disclosutak 2 is the least
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conspicuoulof the nine links(ld.) The boxes and disclosure links appear on the websites

follows:

| have read and accept the terms ofAbelication, including the terms and provisions of thiITED
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(Id.); see alsdFTC § Memo in Supp. of MSI4:1-14, ECF No0.456)(reproducing an internal
GRFXPHQW IURP '"HIHQGDQWVY FRQWDLQLQJ WKLV SD
While borrowers technically have thdility to decline enroliment in the automatic

renewal plan, the mechanism for declining enroliment is controllebdebipéfendants through
a convoluted ema#ndhyperlink proceduréSee '"HIHQGD QW V 2 S8 RA/I5Y6]
16:1618, ECF No493) For a borrower to decline enroliment in the automatic renewal pl
using the emaiind-hyperlink procedurethe folloving steps must be completed: (1) three d
after the loan is funded, theendingDefendants send an email to the borrower containing

additional loan terms and a link to a webpage from where the borrower may elect to dec

enrollment in the renewal pla(2) the borrower opens the email, reads the new terms, acg
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percent of the borrowers she spoke with complained that Defendants had withdrawn mo
WKHLU DFFRXQWYVY WKDQ WKH ORDQ FRV Wecordsttlom& tHal
theLending' HIHQGDQWVY HPSOR\HHV ZHUH LQVWUXFWHG
workedin order to keep potential borrowers in the daBor example, in response to an emd
from one of thdending' HIHQGDQWVY VDOHV U H Shdyugd@akeDlaviduéd
when explaining a loan to potential borrowers, Manager of Training and Development
stated:

, GRQITW WKLQN WKDW >WKLYVY ODQJXDJH@ HQFRX
we are trying to sell it | think we should leave ounhtsilike renew and pay down.
We don ffwant to complicate things if we are trying to get them to get a loan. |
have heard many times customers ask to withdraw the loan after the explanation
and | believe that a lot of it has to do with the way it is expthine

(Email,Ex. 720f FTC $ Dec. in Supp. of MSECF No0.455-72.)

C. Procedural History of the Case

The FTC filed its Complaint on April 2, 2012, alleging claims for deceptive acts an
practices and deceptive collection practices in violation of the FTQCGeints | & II), for
failing to properly disclose certain loan informatiornviolation of TILA and its implementing
Regulation 2 (Count I11), for conditioning the extension of credit on the preauthorization g
recurring loans in violation of EFTA (Couht), and for disgorgement as provided under
section 13(b) of the FTC Act (Count V). (Complaint 228, ECF No. 1.)

2Q '"HFHPEHU WKH &RXUW VLIQHG DQ 2UGH
for preliminary injunction and bifurcation. (EQ¥o. 296.) TheBifurcation Order divided the
litigation into two phases: a liability phase and a relief phade9:1-10:23.) During Phase |
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F O D L&eMteX Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 3224 (1986).

In determining summary judgment, a court applies a burdéhL IWLQJ D eb O
the party moving for summary judgment would bear the burden of proof at trial, it must c
forward with evidence which would entitle it to a directed verdict if the evidence went
uncontroverted at trial. In such a case, the moving party has tlaé mitden of establishing
WKH DEVHQFH RI D JHQXLQH LVVXH RI IEKRAW. RahsplD FK

Brokerage Co. v. Darden Rests., Inc.
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competent evidence that shows a genuine issue forSdaCelotex Corp 477 U.S. at 324.

$W VXPPDU\ MXGJPHQW D FRXUWTV IXQFWLRQ LWV
truth but to deterime whether there is a genuine issue for tBale Andersqml77 U.S. at 249.
7KH HYLGHQFH RI WKH QRQPRYDQW LV SsWR EH EHOLH
in KLV | D& Bt255. But if the evidence of the nonmoving party is peralorable or is

not significantly probative, summary judgment may be grantedU.S. at 249.
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1. Treatment of the Net Impression of the Loan Documents

Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission &c1914 prohibitsinter alia 33X QIDL

GHFHSWLYH DFWV RU SUDFWLFHV LQ RU DEBEHF WEW®QJRRA
LV GHFHSWLYH LI plLUVW WKHUH LV D UHSUHVHQWD)
mislead consuers acting reasonably under the circumstances, and third, the representat
RPLVVLRQ RU SUDFW.CHHGI 263y ¢4, ORD@OtK Cir. 2001) (citing
F.T.C. v. Pantron | Corp 33 F.3d 1088, 1095 (9th Cir. 1994Actual deceptions not

required for &ection 5 violation.
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56; FTC v. Publishers Bus. Servs., In821 F. Supp. 2d 1205, 1226 (D. Nev. 20EJ)C v.
Grant Connect, LLC827 F. Supp. 2d 1199, 1219 (D. Nev. 2011)

"HIHQ G &dguievithowever, isinpesuasive First, numerous Ninth Circuit cases

including the ones cited by Defendants have found the net impression of a representation to b

suitable forsummary judgmendeterminationSee e.g. Cyberspace.Com L1453 F.3d at 120!
3 >7T@KH GLVWULFW FRXUW
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andthat the tems contained in the fine print of the document are not hidden, vague, unce
or contradictory(ld.)

This argument, however, misunderstatigslaw and- XGJH ) HUHQEDFK VW
was directly addressed and refuted in the Report and Recommend&spart &
Recommendatiof2:11-26:18 ECF No. 539.)First, the terms of the Loan Note Disclosure :
not disputed by DefendantSee e.g(' HIHQGD QW V | 2 S25,RFECE MbUEBY Second,

Judge Ferenbach noted that the terms of the TILA Box and th
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of the net impression it creates even thougHréy@resentationdlso contains truthful

disclosures. (Report & Recommendation 10:14
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in the TILA Box, are concealed from borrowers because they are scattered througfioet tf
print in thedocument and because the terms nexgresslystate that the renewal plan is
automatic'® (1d.) Instead, the Loan Note Disclosure menggs phrases implying automatic
enroliment, such ahat 2 paymenfwill be due]if you decline the option of renewing your
ORDB'Qd)

ThereforeDefenG D QW V | | D F \&reirbDnaatetidl Wris Xavréasonable jury could fi
thatthe Loan Note Disclosumeas notlikely to mislead borrowers acting reasonably under {
circumstances. This objection is without merit.

3. Provision of Additional Reasons why thd_.oan Documents are Ambiguous

"HIHQ G i bbjedtion is that Judge Ferenbawblated Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 56(fy granting summary judgmenttothe FTCaffdt Q YHQW>LQJ@ D
never advanced by the FTC that the Loan Note DisclduiV QHW LPSUHVVLRQ
because it is unclear undesterms how a borrower may opt out of the renewal plan.

(Objection10:1923, ECF No. 542.)
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Itis truethataGLVWULFW FRXUW PD\ JUDQW D VXPPDU\
raised byapat” RQO\ 3>D@IWHU JLYLQJ >WKH QRQPRYDQW
UHVSRQG ~ )HG 5 H&ever, dhile thd FTC may not have specifically argued t
this particular ambiguity pointed out by Judge Ferenbach contributed to the misleading n
impression of the Loan Note Disclosure, the FTC repeatedly argued in its motion that su
judgment was appropriate becauséhef Inconspicuous, contradictory, confusing, and vagl
languagé LQ WKH GRE ¥ Reh® W Supp. of MSD:20-21, ECF No. 456) see e.qg(id.
19:6 tAe loan documents were confusing, particularly on the issue of the repayment
WHUPMXGJH )HUHQEDFKYV FLWLQJ RI D SDUWLFXODU
terms argued by the FTC as a basis for their matc@s not constitute a ruling on grounds n
raised by the moving party undéederalRule of Civil Procedure 56(f5ee Ervco, Inc. v.
Texaco Ref. & Mktg., Inc. ) 6XSS G " $UL] 31 R
if the issue on which theummary judgment was granted is a subset of the larger issue rai
E\ WKH SDU WtelCorg: i.\Madrifpdd Accident and Indemnity C862 F.2d 1551, 155¢
(9th Cir. 1991)). Therefore, this objection is without merit.

4. Interpretation of the Facts

"HIHQGDQWYVY IRXUWK REMHFWLRQ LV WKDW 3WKH
QXPHURXYV PDWHULDO IDFWYV D O Z@QbjactiarnQ: 2221\ FCHNG.RBUPL

7KH WKUHH H[DPSOHV RI :PDWHULDO IDFWV" Fdl&geti® E

have misconstrued are that: (1) The Loan Note Disclosure link is not buried or inconspic

because it islsodisplayed at the top of the webpage, (2) the words under the TILA Box ilie

QRW 3ILQH” EHFDXVH WKH\ DU HeMWd€bsuveld, Rt (3)Lbjdrromevs §id
not need to click the nine separate hyperlinks to read all the loan documents because al
documents were contained on the same webpage and only required scrolling up anttido

17:417.)
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and paymenschedule are the very onemandated by TILA12 C.F.R8 1026.18(dXe), (g}
(h). Therefore, Judge Ferenbadid not ignore binding Ninth Circuit precedentfinding that
the Loan Note Disclosure was ambiguous and in violation of T(R&port &
Recommendation 30:4, ECF N0.539) B HFDXVH '"HIHQGDQWVY ORDQ
matteroo ODZ pPWRHWKHHUPWIDO REOLIJDWLRQ EHWZHHQ \
FRQVSLFXRXVO\Y GLVFORVHGH @&axgivigshvitoutnidry.

6. Ambiguity in TILA Mandated Terms

'"HIHQGDQWVY VL[WsudgeeRdrenbadailedio usé the Kardctt test for
contractual ambiguity in finding that the ambiguities in the Loan Note Disclosure violated
TILA. (Objection 2:12, ECF No. 542.)In support of this objectioDefendantsassert thathe
proper 3K R U QtESR RNambigX LW\ LQ WKLV FDVH LV jZscldsvémdy \
reasonably be read as creating an obligation to renew as opposed to thpagintgat
REOLJDWLRQ UHIOHFWH G*(d)1%\618 § Deferlattd tieh@dRartttat-ud
this standed the TILA mandateterms in the Loan Note Disclosure were not ambiguous
because thésinglepayment option ZDV 3FOHDUO\ Garkow@Rnétd 6ot IEYQlIE
required to follow the renewal plafid. 19:8-14, 22:925:22)

Defendant§argumentere s unpersuasiveA contract is ambiguous LW LV 3SUH
VXVFHSWLEOH" WR PR UHSKidtah @c.R TN SLCaréntald Saypb9VFBW L
1005, 1015 (9th Cir. 20123ee alsdl1 WILLISTON ON CONTRACTS 8§ 30:5 (stating the
same).In its andysis of FTC Act violations, this Court has already determined that the tern
the Loan Note Disclosure regarding the automatic renewal plan were likely to mislead bg

they implied in theorominent TILA Box that only one finance charge would be irexigvhile

B'HIHQGDQWY SURYLGH Q Redfdthdmybthey d Rter cild/fiistdR bn BGbKttavtsfor the
SURSRVLWLRQ WKDW 3DV D PDWWHU RI FRQWUDFW QOclng is8dti & | F
OHJDO REOM)BWNENQONTRACTS T WK HG 7KH DFWXDO TXRV
that leaves an essential element of a promise open for future negotiation and agreement, constitutes no
and createsnolegR EOLJDWLRQ XQWLO WKH IXWXUH DJUHHPHQW LV D

Page20 of 25
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recommendederying summary judgment on Counts Il & [&hd amending the Bifurcation
Order to permit those claims to proceed during PhagkllI35:1-36:5) (citing Fed. R. Civ. P.

G 3,1 D QRQPRYDQW & HeRlArstida that,| fiok SpecKikdweasons, it cannd
present facts essential to justify its opposition, the court may: (1) defer considering the nj
RU GHQ\ LW °

The Muir Defendants assert that granting samnmudgment on Counts | & IlI
effectively SQ XOOLILHG™ WKH SURWHFWLRQV DIIRUGHG XQ
necessitated denying summary judgment on Counts Il & IV. (Limited Objectiom3123
ECF No. 541.) The Muir Defendants further assert that the Bifurcation Ordéudyel
JHUHQERLRKRQVLVWHQW UXOLQJ" GHQLHG WKHP RI W
discovery about the claims against thelu. 4:23-5:8.)

The Muir Defendants assertions, however, are unpersuasive. In contending that t
were denied the righttt QJDJH LQ GLVFRYHU\ DQG WKDW -XGJH
Recommendation is inconsistent in granting summary judgment on Counts | & Il while
denying it on Counts Il & 1V, the Muir Defendants appear to ignore two important facts.
the Muir Defendats voluntarily chose to postpone discovery until after Phase | by stipulat
(ECF No. 278) and no doubt benefited from being relieved from the costs involved in
conducting that discovery. Second, the situation regarding Counts | & IlI is fundamental
different from the situation regarding Counts Il & IV. Unlike Counts Il & Which were not
fully litigated by the Lending Defendants, fdliscovery and litigation asconducted by the
LendingDefendanton Counts | & 1ll, aswas originallycontemplated yall parties?

including the Muir Defendangin the Bifurcation OrderSee(Bifurcation Order, ECF No.
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and Count IV to proceed against the Muir Defendants during Phakh# litigation
DATED this 28thday ofMay, 2014.
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